RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.
Form 10-Q
November 02, 2018
UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
------------------------------------

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q

Quarterly Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the quarterly period ended September 30, 2018.

OR

Transition Report Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

For the transition period from to .

Commission file number 001-36101

RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 80-0937145 (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

5075 South Syracuse Street

Denver, Colorado 80237 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(303) 770-5531

(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth company. See definition of "large accelerated filer", "accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer Emerging growth company Accelerated filer Smaller reporting company

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes No

The number of outstanding shares of the registrant's Class A common stock, par value \$0.0001 per share, and Class B common stock, par value \$0.0001, as of October 31, 2018 was 17,746,184 and 1, respectively.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

	PART I. – FINANCIAL INFORMATION	Page No.
Item 1.	<u>Financial Statements</u>	3
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017	3
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017	4
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Three and Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017	5
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equit for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018	<b>y</b> 6
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and September 30, 2017	7
	RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Notes to Unaudited Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements	8
Item 2.	Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	29
Item 3.	Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks	45
Item 4.	Controls and Procedures	46
	PART II. – OTHER INFORMATION	
Item 1.	Legal Proceedings	48
Item 1A.	Risk Factors	48
Item 2.	Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds	48
Item 3.	Defaults Upon Senior Securities	48

Item 4.	Mine Safety Disclosures	48
Item 5.	Other Information	48
Item 6.	Exhibits	48
	SIGNATURES	50
2		

## PART I. – FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements

RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	eptember 30,	20	ecember 31, 017 s adjusted*
Assets			
Current assets:			
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 51,263	\$	50,807
Accounts and notes receivable, current portion, less allowances of \$7,247 and			
\$7,223, respectively	21,566		20,284
Income taxes receivable	760		963
Other current assets	5,265		7,974
Total current assets	78,854		80,028
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of \$12,977 and			
\$12,326, respectively	3,626		2,905
Franchise agreements, net	107,032		119,349
Other intangible assets, net	21,911		8,476
Goodwill	150,859		135,213
Deferred tax assets, net	59,449		62,841
Other assets, net of current portion	4,347		4,023
Total assets	\$ 426,078	\$	412,835
Liabilities and stockholders' equity			
Current liabilities:			
Accounts payable	\$ 783	\$	517
Accrued liabilities	12,440		15,390
Income taxes payable	105		97
Deferred revenue	25,310		25,268
Current portion of debt	2,665		2,350
Current portion of payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements	4,479		6,252
Total current liabilities	45,782		49,874
Debt, net of current portion	225,770		226,636
Payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements, net of current portion	43,710		46,923
Deferred tax liabilities, net	112		151
Deferred revenue, net of current portion	19,939		20,228
Other liabilities, net of current portion	18,607		19,897
Total liabilities	353,920		363,709

Commitments and contingencies (note 14)

Stockholders' equity:

2	2
	_
457,026	451,199
18,412	8,400
419	459
475,859	460,060
(403,701)	(410,934)
72,158	49,126
\$ 426,078	\$ 412,835
	 457,026 18,412 419 475,859 (403,701) 72,158

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

## RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		September 30, September 30,			nded	
		2017		2017			
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*			
Revenue:							
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 25,495	\$ 23,049	\$ 75,946	\$ 69,298			
Annual dues	9,106	8,592	26,775	25,148			
Broker fees	13,488	12,125	36,669	32,914			
Franchise sales and other revenue	6,777	5,305	22,395	17,844			
Total revenue	54,866	49,071	161,785	145,204			
Operating expenses:							
Selling, operating and administrative							
expenses	27,461	31,843	90,136	79,167			
Depreciation and amortization	5,608	4,286	15,252	15,678			
(Gain) loss on sale or disposition of assets,							
net	(10)	451	(41)	426			
Total operating expenses	33,059	36,580	105,347	95,271			
Operating income	21,807	12,491	56,438	49,933			
Other expenses, net:							
Interest expense	(3,050)	(2,598)	(8,945)	(7,414)			
Interest income	180	145	397	195			
Foreign currency transaction gains (losses)	24	273	(162)	289			
Total other expenses, net	(2,846)	(2,180)	(8,710)	(6,930)			
Income before provision for income taxes	18,961	10,311	47,728	43,003			
Provision for income taxes	(3,420)	(3,021)	(8,429)	(10,786)			
Net income	\$ 15,541	\$ 7,290	\$ 39,299	\$ 32,217			
Less: net income attributable to							
non-controlling interest (note 4)	7,402	3,573	18,529	16,502			
Net income attributable to RE/MAX							
Holdings, Inc.	\$ 8,139	\$ 3,717	\$ 20,770	\$ 15,715			
Net income attributable to RE/MAX							
Holdings, Inc. per share of Class A common							
stock							
Basic	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.21	\$ 1.17	\$ 0.89			
Diluted	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.21	\$ 1.17	\$ 0.89			
Weighted average shares of Class A common stock outstanding							

Basic	17,746,184	17,696,991	17,733,910	17,685,683
Diluted	17,771,212	17,737,786	17,767,638	17,726,447
Cash dividends declared per share of Class A				
common stock	\$ 0.20	\$ 0.18	\$ 0.60	\$ 0.54

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

## Table of Contents

## RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months September 3	
	2017		September 3	2017
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*
Net income	\$ 15,541	\$ 7,290	\$ 39,299	\$ 32,217
Change in cumulative translation adjustment	90	507	(77)	947
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax	90	507	(77)	947
Comprehensive income	15,631	7,797	39,222	33,164
Less: comprehensive income attributable to				
non-controlling interest	7,435	3,859	18,492	17,035
Comprehensive income attributable to RE/MAX				
Holdings, Inc., net of tax	\$ 8,196	\$ 3,938	\$ 20,730	\$ 16,129

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

## RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Stockholders' Equity

(In thousands, except share amounts)

(Unaudited)

	Class A common stock		Class B common of Shares		Additional paid-in ncapital	Retained earnings	compreh income (	lated other enNon- loss)ntrolling x interest	;
As adjusted* balances, January 1,									
2018	17,696,991	\$ 2	1	\$ —	\$ 451,199	\$ 8,400	\$ 459	\$ (410,934)	
Net income	—	Ψ <b>2</b>	_	Ψ —	—	20,770	Ψ 15 <i>7</i>	18,529	•
Distributions to						_3,		,	
non-controlling									
unitholders	_						_	(11,259)	
Equity-based									
compensation and									
related dividend	64 070				6 206	(112)			
equivalents Dividends to Class	64,878	_	_	_	6,206	(113)	_	_	
A common									
stockholders					_	(10,645)			
Change in						, , ,			
accumulated other									
comprehensive									
income	_	_	_	_			(40)	(37)	
Payroll taxes related									
to net settled restricted stock units	(15,685)				(895)				
Other	(13,063)		_		(893)	<u>—</u>		_	
Balances,					310	<del></del>		_	
September 30, 2018	17,746,184	\$ 2	1	\$ —	\$ 457,026	\$ 18,412	\$ 419	\$ (403,701)	

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

## RE/MAX HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

(Unaudited)

	Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	•	2017
	2018	As adjusted*
Cash flows from operating activities:		
Net income	\$ 39,299	\$ 32,217
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:		
Depreciation and amortization	15,252	15,678
Bad debt expense	1,257	836
(Gain) loss on sale or disposition of assets and sublease, net	(146)	3,859
Equity-based compensation expense	6,141	2,161
Deferred income tax expense	3,503	3,822
Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration	(860)	250
Payments pursuant to tax receivable agreements	(5,047)	(7,296)
Other, net	902	888
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	(3,279)	1,025
Net cash provided by operating activities	57,022	53,440
Cash flows from investing activities:		
Purchases of property and equipment and capitalization of developed software and		
trademark costs	(5,316)	(1,781)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired of \$362 and \$0, respectively	(25,888)	
Net cash used in investing activities	(31,204)	(1,781)
Cash flows from financing activities:		
Payments on debt	(2,382)	(1,772)
Distributions paid to non-controlling unitholders	(11,259)	(14,213)
Dividends and dividend equivalents paid to Class A common stockholders	(10,758)	(9,607)
Payment of payroll taxes related to net settled restricted stock units	(895)	(816)
Payment of contingent consideration	(50)	_
Net cash used in financing activities	(25,344)	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(18)	1,076
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents	456	26,327
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year	50,807	57,609
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period	\$ 51,263	\$ 83,936
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:		
Cash paid for interest	\$ 8,487	\$ 7,477
Net cash paid for income taxes	\$ 4,802	\$ 8,619
Schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities:		
	\$ 522	\$ 310

Increase in accounts payable for capitalization of trademark costs and purchases of property, equipment and software

See accompanying notes to unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements.

\*See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### 1. Business and Organization

RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. ("RE/MAX Holdings") completed an initial public offering (the "IPO") of its shares of Class A common stock on October 7, 2013. RE/MAX Holdings' only business is to act as the sole manager of RMCO, LLC ("RMCO"). As of September 30, 2018, RE/MAX Holdings owns 58.56% of the common membership units in RMCO, while RIHI, Inc. ("RIHI") owns the remaining 41.44% of common membership units in RMCO. RE/MAX Holdings and its consolidated subsidiaries, including RMCO, are referred to hereinafter as the "Company."

The Company is a franchisor in the real estate industry, franchising real estate brokerages globally under the RE/MAX brand ("RE/MAX") and mortgage brokerages within the United States ("U.S.") under the Motto Mortgage brand. RE/MAX, founded in 1973, has over 120,000 agents operating in over 7,000 offices and a presence in more than 100 countries and territories. Motto Mortgage ("Motto"), founded in 2016, is the first nationally franchised mortgage brokerage in the U.S. During the first quarter of 2018, the Company acquired all membership interests in booj, LLC, formerly known as Active Website, LLC, ("booj"), a real estate technology company.

#### 2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet at December 31, 2017, which was derived from the audited consolidated financial statements at that date, and the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in annual consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP have been condensed or omitted. The accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements are presented on a consolidated basis and include the accounts of RE/MAX Holdings and its consolidated subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. In the opinion of management, the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all normal and recurring adjustments necessary to present fairly the Company's financial position as of September 30, 2018 and the results of its operations and comprehensive income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, cash flows for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 and changes in its stockholders' equity for the nine months ended September 30, 2018. Interim results may not be indicative of full-year performance. These condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company's audited consolidated financial statements within the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 ("2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K").

Reclassifications

In addition to the change in accounting principle discussed in Note 3, Revenue, certain items in the accompanying condensed consolidated financial statements for the nine months ended September 30, 2017 have been reclassified to conform to the current year's presentation. These reclassifications did not affect the Company's consolidated results of operations or cash flows.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of condensed consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent liabilities at the date of the condensed consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

#### **Segment Reporting**

In February 2018, the Company both (a) acquired all membership interests in booj and (b) promoted Adam Contos to the role of sole Chief Executive Officer. Because of these changes and the continued growth of Motto, in the second quarter of 2018 the chief operating decision maker re-evaluated the information used to evaluate performance and make resource

#### **Table of Contents**

allocation decisions. As a result of the re-evaluation, the Company determined it was operating under the following three segments: RE/MAX Franchising, Motto Franchising and booj. Due to quantitative insignificance, the Motto Franchising and booj operating segments do not meet the criteria of a reportable segment, and RE/MAX Franchising is the only reportable segment. The RE/MAX Franchising reportable segment comprises the operations of the Company's owned and independent global franchising operations under the RE/MAX brand name and corporate-wide shared services expenses. Other comprises Motto Franchising and booj. All prior segment information has been recasted to reflect the Company's new segment structure.

Principles of Consolidation

RE/MAX Holdings consolidates RMCO and records a non-controlling interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets and records net income attributable to the non-controlling interest and comprehensive income attributable to the non-controlling interest in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income and Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income, respectively.

### Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2017, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2017-01, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Clarifying the Definition of a Business, which clarifies when transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of assets or businesses. ASU 2017-01 became effective prospectively for the Company on January 1, 2018. The Company concluded that the acquisition of booj meets the definition of a business. See Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information. The Company has also concluded that it expects future Independent Region acquisitions to be accounted for as an acquisition of a business.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230): Classification of Certain Cash Receipts and Cash Payments, which clarifies classification for certain cash receipts and cash payments on the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. ASU 2016-15 became effective for the Company on January 1, 2018 and required a retrospective transition method for each period presented. Under the new guidance, the contingent consideration payments related to the purchase of Full House Mortgage Connection, Inc. ("Full House"), a franchisor of mortgage brokerages that created concepts used to develop Motto, are classified as financing outflows up to the \$6.3 million acquisition date fair value and any cash payments paid in excess of the acquisition date fair value are classified as operating outflows. See Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information. The adoption of this standard had no other material impact on its financial statements and related disclosures.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), with several subsequent amendments, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. The ASU replaced most existing revenue recognition guidance in U.S. GAAP when it became effective for the Company on January 1, 2018. See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

#### New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), which eliminates certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements and requires new or modified disclosures. ASU 2018-13 is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2020. Certain changes are applied retrospectively to each period presented and others are to be applied either in the period of adoption or prospectively. The Company believes the amendments of ASU 2018-13 will not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements

and related disclosures.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220), which adjusts the classification of stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act from accumulated other comprehensive income to retained earnings. ASU 2018-02 is effective for the Company beginning January 1, 2019. The standard is to be applied either in the period of adoption or retrospectively to each period effected by the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The Company completed the majority of its accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act as of

#### **Table of Contents**

December 31, 2017. The Company believes the amendments of ASU 2018-02 will not have a significant impact on the Company's consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, Intangibles – Goodwill and Other (Topic 350), which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill by eliminating step two from the goodwill impairment test. ASU 2017-04 is effective for annual and interim impairment tests beginning January 1, 2020 for the Company and is required to be adopted using a prospective approach. Early adoption is allowed for annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates after January 1, 2017.

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from all leases on the consolidated balance sheets. ASU 2016-02 is required to be adopted by the Company on January 1, 2019. The Company plans to elect the transition method per ASU 2018-11 and apply the new lease standard at adoption and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption and will not retrospectively recast prior periods presented. The Company has several building leases and other smaller leases for which the Company is still assessing the application of this standard. The Company has not yet determined the exact effect of the standard on its consolidated financial statements and related disclosures but expects a material increase in both "Total assets" and "Total liabilities" on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets upon implementation primarily related to building leases.

#### 3. Revenue

### Changes in Revenue Recognition Policies

The Company adopted the new revenue standard on January 1, 2018. The Company applied the new revenue standard retrospectively and has recast the 2017 condensed consolidated financial statements as though the new revenue standard had been applied in all periods presented. The adoption of the new guidance changed the timing of recognition of franchise sales and franchise renewal revenue and related commissions paid on franchise sales and renewals, as discussed below. These changes resulted in net cumulative adjustments to "Retained earnings" of \$4.9 million and "Non-controlling interest" of \$11.6 million which were recorded to the opening balance sheet as of January 1, 2016.

The Company's franchise agreements offer the following benefits to the franchisee: common use and promotion of RE/MAX and Motto trademarks; distinctive sales and promotional materials; access to technology; standardized supplies and other materials used in RE/MAX and Motto offices; and recommended procedures for operation of RE/MAX and Motto offices. The Company concluded that these benefits are all a part of one performance obligation, a license of symbolic intellectual property that is billed through a variety of fees including franchise sales, continuing franchise fees, broker fees, and annual dues, described below. The Company has other performance obligations associated with contracts with customers in other revenue for training, marketing and events.

Franchise sales is comprised of revenue from the sale or renewal of franchises. The Company previously recognized revenue at the time of sale. Under the new revenue standard, the franchise sale initial fees are considered to be a part of the license of symbolic intellectual property, which is now recognized over the contractual term of the franchise agreement, which is typically 5 years for RE/MAX and 7 years for Motto franchise agreements. Correspondingly, the commissions related to franchise sales are recorded as an asset (the current portion in "Other current assets" and long-term portion in "Other assets, net of current portion") and are recognized over the contractual term of the franchise agreement in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses". Previously, such commissions were expensed as incurred.

The following tables summarize the impacts of the new revenue standard adoption on the Company's condensed consolidated financial statements (in thousands, except per share information):

#### Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet

As of	Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies As of December 31, 2017 As previously		
repor	ted Adjustments	s As adjusted	
Accounts and notes receivable, current portion, net \$ 21,	304 \$ (1,020)	\$ 20,284	
Income taxes receivable 870	93	963	
Other current assets 6,9	24 1,050	7,974	
Deferred tax assets, net 59,	151 3,690	62,841	
Other assets, net of current portion 1,5	63 2,460	4,023	
Income taxes payable 133	3 (36)	97	
Deferred revenue 18,	918 6,350	25,268	
Deferred revenue, net of current —	20,228	20,228	
Retained earnings 16,	027 (7,627)	8,400	
Accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax 513	5 (56)	459	
Non-controlling interest 398	3,348 12,586	410,934	

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Income

	As previousl	y	
	reported	Adjustments	As adjusted
Franchise sales and other revenue	\$ 5,611	\$ (306)	\$ 5,305
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	31,832	11	31,843
Provision for income taxes	3,091	(70)	3,021
Net income	7,537	(247)	7,290
Net income attributable to non-controlling interest	3,702	(129)	3,573
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	3,835	(118)	3,717
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. per share of			
Class A common stock:			
Basic	0.22	(0.01)	0.21
Diluted	0.22	(0.01)	0.21

	As previously		
	reported	Adjustments	As adjusted
Franchise sales and other revenue	\$ 19,065	\$ (1,221)	\$ 17,844
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	79,263	(96)	79,167
Provision for income taxes	10,883	(97)	10,786
Net income	33,245	(1,028)	32,217

Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies Three Months Ended September 30, 2017

Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. per share of Class	16,968 16,277	(466) (562)	16,502 15,715
A common stock:			
Basic	0.92	(0.03)	0.89
Diluted	0.92	(0.03)	0.89
11			

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2017			
	As previous	ly		
	reported	Adjustments	As adjusted	
Net income	\$ 7,537	\$ (247)	\$ 7,290	
Change in cumulative translation adjustment	536	(29)	507	
Comprehensive income	8,073	(276)	7,797	
Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest	3,987	(128)	3,859	
Comprehensive income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc., net				
of tax	4,086	(148)	3,938	

Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies

Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017 As previously reported Adjustments As adjusted Net income \$ 33,245 \$ (1,028) \$ 32,217 999 947 Change in cumulative translation adjustment (52)Comprehensive income 34,244 (1,080)33,164 Comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interest 17,500 17,035 (465)Comprehensive income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc., net of tax 16,744 (615)16,129

Impact of Changes in Accounting Policies

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017						
	As previous	As previously					
	reported	Adjustments	As adjusted				
Net income	\$ 33,245	\$ (1,028)	\$ 32,217				
Deferred income tax expense	3,919	(97)	3,822				
Changes in operating assets and liabilities	(100)	1,125	1,025				
Revenue Recognition Under the New Revenue Standard							

The Company generates all of its revenue from contracts with customers. The following is a description of principal activities from which the Company generates its revenue. The franchise agreements provide the franchisees the right to access intellectual property throughout the license period. The method used to measure progress is over the passage of time for most streams of revenue.

#### Continuing Franchise Fees

Revenue from continuing franchise fees consists of fixed contractual fees paid monthly by franchise owners and franchisees based on the number of RE/MAX agents in the respective franchised region or office and the number of Motto offices. This revenue is recognized in the month for which the fee is billed. This revenue is a usage-based royalty as it is dependent on the number of RE/MAX agents and number of Motto offices.

#### Annual Dues

Annual dues revenue consists of fixed contractual fees paid annually based on the number of RE/MAX agents. The Company defers the annual dues revenue when billed and recognizes the revenue ratably over the 12-month period to which it relates. Annual dues revenue is a usage-based royalty as it is dependent on the number of agents.

The activity in the Company's deferred revenue is included in "Deferred revenue" and "Deferred revenue, net of current portion" on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

#### **Table of Contents**

The activity in the Company's annual dues deferred revenue consists of the following (in thousands):

Nine months ended September 30, 2018	Balance at beginning of period	New billings	Revenue recognized(a)	Balance at end of period	
	\$ 15,297	\$ 28,249	\$ (26,775)	\$ 16,771	

(a)Revenue recognized related to the beginning balance was \$2.4 million and \$13.4 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, respectively.

#### **Broker Fees**

Revenue from broker fees represents fees received from the Company's RE/MAX franchised regions or franchise offices that are based on a percentage of RE/MAX agents' gross commission income. Revenue from broker fees is recognized as a sales-based royalty and recognized in the month when a home sale transaction occurs. Motto franchisees do not pay any fees based on the number or dollar value of loans brokered.

#### Franchise Sales

The activity in the Company's franchise sales deferred revenue accounts consists of the following (in thousands):

	Balance at beginning of period	New billings	Revenue recognized(a)	Balance at end of period	
Nine months ended September 30, 2018	\$ 27,943	\$ 6,083	\$ (6,896)	\$ 27,130	

(a)Revenue recognized related to the beginning balance was \$1.9 million and \$5.7 million for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.

#### Commissions Related to Franchise Sales

Commissions paid on franchise sales are recognized as an asset and amortized over the contract life of the franchise agreement. The activity in the Company's capitalized contract costs for commissions (which are included in "other current assets" and "other assets, net of current portion" on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets) consist of the following (in thousands):

		lance at ginning of period	Exp	pense recognized		ditions to contract t for new activity		
Nine months ended September 30, 2018	\$	3,532	\$	(956)	\$	1.146	\$	3,722
Other Revenue	Ċ	- ,		(= )	·	, -	Ċ	- , -

Other revenue is primarily revenue from preferred marketing arrangements and event-based revenue from training and other programs. Revenue from preferred marketing arrangements involves both flat fees paid in advance as well as revenue sharing, both of which are generally recognized over the period of the arrangement. Event-based revenue is recognized when the event occurs and until then is included in "Deferred revenue". Other revenue also includes revenue from booj's operations for its external customers.

#### Disaggregated Revenue

In the following table, segment revenue is disaggregated by geographical area for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,			
		2017		2017		
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*		
U.S.	\$ 40,872	\$ 36,615	\$ 118,794	\$ 109,054		
Canada	6,170	6,599	18,146	17,573		
Global and Other	5,408	5,694	19,214	18,332		
Total RE/MAX Franchising	52,450	48,908	156,154	144,959		
Other	2,416	163	5,631	245		
Total	\$ 54,866	\$ 49,071	\$ 161,785	\$ 145,204		

<sup>\*</sup>See above within Note 3, Revenue for more information

In the following table, segment revenue is disaggregated by owned or independent regions in the U.S. and Canada for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

	Three Month	ns Ended	Nine Months Ended			
	September 3	0,	September 30,			
		2017		2017		
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*		
Owned Regions	\$ 35,138	\$ 31,616	\$ 102,193	\$ 93,165		
Independent Regions	11,904	11,598	34,747	33,462		
Global and Other	5,408	5,694	19,214	18,332		
Total RE/MAX Franchising	52,450	48,908	156,154	144,959		
Other	2,416	163	5,631	245		
Total	\$ 54,866	\$ 49,071	\$ 161,785	\$ 145,204		

<sup>\*</sup>See above within Note 3, Revenue for more information

Transaction Price Allocated to the Remaining Performance Obligations

The following table includes estimated revenue by year expected to be recognized in the future related to performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) at the end of the reporting period (in thousands):

	Remaining months of	3						
	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	Thereafter	Total
Annual								
dues	\$ 7,376	\$ 9,395	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 16,771
Franchise	1,916	6,970	5,662	4,246	2,710	1,284	4,342	27,130

sales

Total \$ 9,292 \$ 16,365 \$ 5,662 \$ 4,246 \$ 2,710 \$ 1,284 \$ 4,342 \$ 43,901 Using the transition requirements of the new standard, the Company has elected not to disclose the amount of the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations or when the Company expects to recognize that amount as revenue for the year ended December 31, 2017.

#### 4. Non-controlling Interest

RE/MAX Holdings is the sole managing member of RMCO and operates and controls all of the business affairs of RMCO. The ownership of the common units in RMCO is summarized as follows:

	September 30, 2018			December 31, 2017		
	Shares	Ownership %		Shares	Ownership %	o o
Non-controlling interest ownership of common units in RMCO RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. outstanding Class A common stock (equal to RE/MAX Holdings,	12,559,600	41.44	%	12,559,600	41.51	%
Inc. common units in RMCO)	17,746,184	58.56	%	17,696,991	58.49	%
Total common units in RMCO	30,305,784	100.00	%	30.256.591	100.00	%

The weighted average ownership percentages for the applicable reporting periods are used to calculate the net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings. A reconciliation of "Income before provision for income taxes" to "Net Income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc." and "Net Income attributable to non-controlling interest" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the periods indicated is detailed as follows (in thousands, except for percentages):

	Three Mon	Three Months Ended September 30,						2017						
	2018 RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.		Non-cont interest	rollin	_	otal		As adjus RE/MAX Holdings Inc.	K	No	on-conti terest	rolling	Total	
Weighted average ownership percentage of RMCO(a)	58.56	%	41.44	%	,	100.00	%	58.49	%		41.51	%	100.00	0 %
Income before provision for		, .		,		100.00	, .	20119	,,,			,,	100.0	,,
income taxes(a) Provision for	\$ 11,096		\$ 7,865		\$	18,961		\$ 5,992		\$	4,319		\$ 10,31	1
income taxes(b)(c)	(2,957)		(463)			(3,420)		(2,275	)		(746)		(3,021	()
Net income	\$ 8,139		\$ 7,402		\$	15,541		\$ 3,717	,	\$	3,573		\$ 7,290	
	Nine Months	End	led Septe	mber :	30.									
	1 (1110 1/1011011)		ou supre.				2	2017						
	2018 RE/MAX						A	As adjuste RE/MAX	d*					
	Holdings,	No	on-contro	lling			I	Holdings,		Non	-contro	lling		
	Inc.	int	erest		Tot	al	I	nc.		inte	rest		Total	
Weighted average ownership	58.54 %		41.46	%	1	00.00 %	)	58.47	%	4	1.53	%	100.00	%

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

percentage of RMCO(a) Income before provision for						
income taxes(a)	\$ 27,916	\$ 19,812	\$ 47,728	\$ 25,104	\$ 17,899	\$ 43,003
Provision for						
income						
taxes(b)(c)	(7,146)	(1,283)	(8,429)	(9,389)	(1,397)	(10,786)
Net income	\$ 20,770	\$ 18,529	\$ 39,299	\$ 15,715	\$ 16,502	\$ 32,217
Tiet meome	Ψ 20,770	Ψ 10,527	Ψ 57,277	Ψ 15,715	Ψ 10,502	Ψ 52,217

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

<sup>(</sup>a) The weighted average ownership percentage of RMCO differs from the allocation of income before provision for income taxes between RE/MAX Holdings and the non-controlling interest due to certain relatively insignificant expenses recorded at RE/MAX Holdings.

<sup>(</sup>b) The provision for income taxes attributable to RE/MAX Holdings is primarily comprised of U.S. federal and state income taxes on its proportionate share of the pass-through income from RMCO. It also includes RE/MAX Holdings' share of taxes directly incurred by RMCO and its subsidiaries, related primarily to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions.

#### **Table of Contents**

(c) The provision for income taxes attributable to the non-controlling interest represents its share of taxes related primarily to tax liabilities in certain foreign jurisdictions directly incurred by RMCO or its subsidiaries. Because RMCO is a pass-through entity, there is no U.S. federal and state income tax provision recorded on the non-controlling interest.

Distributions and Other Payments to Non-controlling Unitholders

Under the terms of RMCO's fourth amended and restated limited liability company operating agreement (the "New RMCO, LLC Agreement"), RMCO makes cash distributions to non-controlling unitholders on a pro-rata basis. The distributions paid or payable to non-controlling unitholders are summarized as follows (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended		
	September 30,		
	2018	2017	
Tax and other distributions	\$ 3,723	\$ 7,430	
Dividend distributions	7,536	6,783	
Total distributions to non-controlling unitholders	\$ 11,259	\$ 14,213	

### 5. Earnings Per Share and Dividends

### Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share ("EPS") measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period. Diluted EPS measures the performance of an entity over the reporting period while giving effect to all potentially dilutive common shares that were outstanding during the period. The treasury stock method is used to determine the dilutive potential of stock options and restricted stock units.

The following is a reconciliation of the numerator and denominator used in the basic and diluted EPS calculations (in thousands, except share and per share information):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months En September 30,	ded	
		2017		2017	
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*	
Numerator					
Net income attributable to RE/MAX					
Holdings, Inc.	\$ 8,139	\$ 3,717	\$ 20,770	\$ 15,715	
Denominator for basic net income per share					
of Class A common stock					
Weighted average shares of Class A common					
stock outstanding	17,746,184	17,696,991	17,733,910	17,685,683	
Denominator for diluted net income per					
share of Class A common stock					
Weighted average shares of Class A common					
stock outstanding	17,746,184	17,696,991	17,733,910	17,685,683	

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Add dilutive effect of the following:				
Restricted stock units	25,028	40,795	33,728	40,764
Weighted average shares of Class A common				
stock outstanding, diluted	17,771,212	17,737,786	17,767,638	17,726,447
Earnings per share of Class A common stock				
Net income attributable to RE/MAX				
Holdings, Inc. per share of Class A common				
stock, basic	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.21	\$ 1.17	\$ 0.89
Net income attributable to RE/MAX				
Holdings, Inc. per share of Class A common				
stock, diluted	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.21	\$ 1.17	\$ 0.89

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

#### **Table of Contents**

Outstanding Class B common stock does not share in the earnings of RE/MAX Holdings and is therefore not a participating security. Accordingly, basic and diluted net income per share of Class B common stock has not been presented.

#### Dividends

Dividends declared and paid quarterly per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock were as follows (in thousands, except share and per share information):

	Nine Months Ende	d September	r 30,					
	2018 2017							
			Amount pai	id Amount pa		Amount paidAmount pa		
			to Class A	to non-cor	ntrolling		to Class A	to non-con
	Date paid	Per share	stockholder	s unitholder	s Date paid	Per share	e stockhold	ersunitholders
Dividend	-				•			
declared								
during								
quarter								
ended:								
March 31	March 21, 2018	\$ 0.20	\$ 3,547	\$ 2,512	March 22, 2017	\$ 0.18	\$ 3,184	\$ 2,261
June 30	May 30, 2018	0.20	3,549	2,512	May 31, 2017	0.18	3,185	2,261
September								
30	August 29, 2018	0.20	3,549	2,512	August 30, 2017	0.18	3,185	2,261
	-	\$ 0.60	\$ 10,645	\$ 7,536	-	\$ 0.54	\$ 9,554	\$ 6,783

On October 31, 2018, the Company's Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of \$0.20 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock, which is payable on November 28, 2018 to stockholders of record at the close of business on November 14, 2018.

#### 6. Acquisitions

#### Booj, LLC

On February 26, 2018, RE/MAX, LLC acquired all membership interests in booj using \$26.3 million in cash generated from operations, plus up to approximately \$10.0 million in equity-based compensation to be earned over time, which will be accounted for as compensation expense in the future (see Note 12, Equity-Based Compensation for additional information). RE/MAX, LLC acquired booj in order to deliver core technology solutions designed for and with RE/MAX affiliates.

Booj constitutes a business and was accounted for using the fair value acquisition method. The Company has not completed the analysis necessary to conclude on its purchase price allocation. However, the following table summarizes the Company's best, current estimate of the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of assets acquired and liabilities assumed (in thousands):

	booj
Cash	\$ 362
Other current assets	367
Property and equipment	625
Software	7,400
Trademarks	500
Non-compete agreements	1,200
Customer relationships	800
Other intangible assets	1,589
Other assets, net of current portion	336
Total assets acquired, excluding goodwill	13,179
Current portion of debt	(606)
Other current liabilities	(557)
Debt, net of current portion	(805)
Total liabilities assumed	(1,968)
Goodwill	15,039
Total purchase price	\$ 26,250

The preliminary estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed is subject to adjustments based on the Company's final assessment of the fair values of the intangible assets, which are the acquired assets with the highest likelihood of changing upon finalization of the valuation process. The excess of the total purchase price over the preliminary fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is attributable to expected synergies and projected long-term revenue growth for the RE/MAX network. All of the goodwill recognized is tax deductible.

Adjustments recorded during the measurement period are calculated as if they were known at the acquisition date but are recognized in the reporting period in which they are determined. Revisions or adjustments are not made to any prior period information. Adjustments to the preliminary purchase price allocation for booj were made during the three months ended September 30, 2018 to the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets resulting in an increase to "Other intangible assets" of \$3.6 million with a corresponding decrease to "Goodwill" of \$3.6 million. The Company recognized an increase in depreciation and amortization expense of \$0.4 million during the three months ended September 30, 2018 in connection with these measurement adjustments.

Revenue and net income attributable to the acquisition of booj were not material for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018.

### RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, Inc.

On November 15, 2017, RE/MAX, LLC acquired certain assets of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, Inc. ("RE/MAX of Northern Illinois"), including the franchise agreements issued by the Company permitting the sale of RE/MAX franchises in the region as well as the franchise agreements between the Independent Region and the franchisees, using \$35.7 million in cash generated from operations. RE/MAX, LLC acquired these assets in order to expand its owned and operated regional franchising operations.

#### **Table of Contents**

The following table summarizes the allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of assets acquired for RE/MAX of Northern Illinois (in thousands):

	RE/MAX of
	Northern
	Illinois
Franchise agreements	\$ 22,800
Goodwill	12,920
Total purchase price	\$ 35,720

The Company finalized its accounting for the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois during the three months ended June 30, 2018. RE/MAX of Northern Illinois constitutes a business and was accounted for using the fair value acquisition method. The total purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired based on their estimated fair values. The franchise agreements acquired were valued using an income approach which utilizes level 3 inputs and are being amortized over a weighted-average useful life using the straight-line method. The excess of the total purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired was recorded as goodwill. The goodwill recognized is attributable to expected synergies and projected long-term revenue growth. All of the goodwill recognized is tax deductible.

Adjustments recorded during the measurement period are calculated as if they were known at the acquisition date but are recognized in the reporting period in which they are determined. Revisions or adjustments are not made to any prior period information. Adjustments to the accounting for RE/MAX of Northern Illinois were made during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 to the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets to decrease "Franchise agreements, net" by \$0.7 million with a corresponding increase to "Goodwill."

#### Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following unaudited pro forma financial information reflects the consolidated results of operations of the Company as if the acquisition of booj had occurred on January 1, 2017 and RE/MAX of Northern Illinois had occurred on January 1, 2016. The historical financial information has been adjusted to give effect to events that are (1) directly attributed to the acquisitions, (2) factually supportable and (3) expected to have a continuing impact on the combined results, including additional amortization expense associated with the valuation of the acquired franchise agreements. This unaudited pro forma information should not be relied upon as necessarily being indicative of the historical results that would have been obtained if the acquisitions had actually occurred on that date, nor of the results that may be obtained in the future.

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months September 30	
	2018 2017		2018	2017
	(in thousand	ls, except per s	share amounts)	
Total revenue	\$ 54,866	\$ 52,144	\$ 163,051	\$ 154,241
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	\$ 8,139	\$ 2,950	\$ 20,078	\$ 13,842
Basic earnings per common share	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.17	\$ 1.13	\$ 0.78
Diluted earnings per common share	\$ 0.46	\$ 0.17	\$ 1.13	\$ 0.78

#### 7. Intangible Assets and Goodwill

The following table provides the components of the Company's intangible assets (in thousands, except weighted average amortization period in years):

	Weighted							
	Average	As of Septen	nber 30, 2018		As of Decem	As of December 31, 2017		
	Amortization	Initial	Accumulated	Net	Initial	Accumulated	Net	
	Period	Cost	Amortization	Balance	Cost	Amortization	Balance	
Franchise								
agreements	12.5	\$ 180,867	\$ (73,835)	\$ 107,032	\$ 181,567	\$ (62,218)	\$ 119,349	
Other								
intangible								
assets:								
Software(a)	4.6	\$ 22,916	\$ (9,630)	\$ 13,286	\$ 13,762	\$ (8,111)	\$ 5,651	
Trademarks	9.3	1,859	(788)	1,071	1,539	(902)	637	
Non-compete								
agreements	7.7	3,700	(733)	2,967	2,500	(312)	2,188	
Training								
materials	5.0	2,350		2,350				
Other(b)	11.9	2,389	(152)	2,237		_		
Total other								
intangible								
assets	6.0	\$ 33,214	\$ (11,303)	\$ 21,911	\$ 17,801	\$ (9,325)	\$ 8,476	

- (a) As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, capitalized software development costs of \$2.4 million and \$0.6 million, respectively, were related to technology projects not yet complete and ready for their intended use and thus were not subject to amortization.
- (b) Other consists of customer relationships and a favorable market lease, both obtained in connection with the acquisition of booj. The favorable market lease is amortized as additional rent expense through "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income over the remaining term of the lease.

Amortization expense for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was \$5.3 million and \$4.1 million, respectively. Amortization expense for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 was \$14.4 million and \$15.1 million, respectively. Amounts for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 include the booj measurement period adjustment of \$0.4 million. Refer to Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information.

As of September 30, 2018, the estimated future amortization expense for the next five years related to intangible assets includes the estimated amortization expense associated with the Company's preliminary estimate of the acquisition date fair value of the intangible assets assumed with the acquisition of booj and is as follows (in thousands):

As of September 30, 2018: Remainder of 2018 \$ 5,067 2019 20,597

2020	20,524
2021	19,741
2022	16,792
	\$ 82,721

## **Table of Contents**

The following table presents changes to goodwill for the period from January 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 (in thousands):

	RE/MAX		
	Franchising	Other	Total
Balance, January 1, 2018	\$ 123,413	\$ 11,800	\$ 135,213
Goodwill recognized related to current year acquisitions(a)	15,039		15,039
Adjustments to acquisition accounting during the measurement period	700		700
Effect of changes in foreign currency exchange rates	(93)		(93)
Balance, September 30, 2018	\$ 139,059	\$ 11,800	\$ 150,859

<sup>(</sup>a) The purpose of the booj acquisition is to develop and deliver core technology solutions designed for and with RE/MAX franchisees and agents. As such, the Company expects the majority of goodwill arising from this acquisition to be allocated to RE/MAX Franchising. However, the allocation of goodwill between the RE/MAX Franchising segment and Other segment is preliminary and will be finalized in conjunction with the finalization of the purchase price allocation for booj. See Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information.

#### 8. Accrued Liabilities

Accrued liabilities consist of the following (in thousands):

	September 30,	December 31,
	2018	2017
Accrued payroll and related employee costs	\$ 6,341	\$ 3,874
Accrued taxes	1,256	1,635
Accrued professional fees	1,818	2,339
Other(a)	3,025	7,542
	\$ 12,440	\$ 15,390

<sup>(</sup>a) Other accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2017 includes a \$4.5 million payable in connection with the February 13, 2018 settlement, and subsequent payment, resulting from the litigation matter concerning the Company's 2013 acquisition of the net assets of Tails, Inc. ("Tails"), as discussed in Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies.

#### 9. Debt

Debt, net of current portion, consists of the following (in thousands):

	September 30,	December 31,
	2018	2017
2016 Senior Secured Credit Facility	\$ 230,300	\$ 232,063
Other long-term financing(a)	825	

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

Less unamortized debt issuance costs	(1,555)	(1,780)
Less unamortized debt discount costs	(1,135)	(1,297)
Less current portion(a)	(2,665)	(2,350)
	\$ 225,770	\$ 226,636

<sup>(</sup>a) Includes financing assumed with the acquisition of booj. As of September 30, 2018, the carrying value of this financing approximates the fair value.

#### **Table of Contents**

Maturities of debt are as follows (in thousands):

As of September 30, 2018:	
Remainder of 2018	\$ 663
2019	2,672
2020	2,703
2021	2,424
2022	2,350
Thereafter	220,313
	\$ 231,125

# Senior Secured Credit Facility

On December 15, 2016, RMCO and RE/MAX, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of RMCO, entered into a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and various lenders party thereto (the "Senior Secured Credit Facility"). Borrowings under the term loans and revolving loans, if any outstanding, accrue interest at LIBOR (as long as LIBOR is not less than the floor of 0.75%) plus an applicable margin of 2.75%. As of September 30, 2018, the interest rate was 4.99%.

As of September 30, 2018, the Company had no revolving loans outstanding under its Senior Secured Credit Facility. Whenever amounts are drawn under the revolving line of credit, the Senior Secured Credit Facility requires compliance with a leverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. A commitment fee of 0.5% per annum accrues on the amount of unutilized revolving line of credit.

#### 10. Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is an exit price, representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that market participants would use in pricing an asset or liability. As a basis for considering assumptions, the Company follows a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which is described in detail in the 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

A summary of the Company's liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 is as follows (in thousands):

	As of Septe	As of September 30, 2018				As of December 31, 2017		
	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3	Fair Value	Level 1	Level 2	Level 3
Liabilities								
Contingent								
consideration	\$ 5,670	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 5,670	\$ 6,580	\$ —	\$ —	\$ 6,580
The Company is requi	irad to pay addit	ional nural	soco concid	aration total	ing sight narge	ent of arose	romania	aallaatad

The Company is required to pay additional purchase consideration totaling eight percent of gross revenues collected by Motto each year (the "Revenue Share Year"), beginning after September 30, 2017 and continuing through September 30, 2026, with no limitation as to the maximum payout. The annual payment to the former owner of Full House is required to be made within 120 days of the end of each Revenue Share Year. Each Revenue Share Year ends September 30. The fair value of the contingent purchase consideration represents the forecasted discounted cash payments that the Company expects to pay Full House with respect to the acquired business. The Company measures this liability each reporting period and recognizes changes in fair value, if any, in earnings of the Company. Any changes are included in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated

Statements of Income. Increases or decreases in the fair value of the contingent purchase consideration can result from changes in discount rates as well as the timing and amount of forecasted cash payments derived from anticipated gross revenues.

## **Table of Contents**

The table below presents a reconciliation of all liabilities of the Company measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs for the period from January 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 (in thousands):

	Fair Value of Contingent
	Consideration
	Liability
Balance at January 1, 2018	\$ 6,580
Fair value adjustments(a)	(860)
Cash payments	(50)
Balance at September 30, 2018	\$ 5,670

<sup>(</sup>a) Fair value adjustments relate to realignment of future franchise sales assumptions to more closely reflect historical sales trends from inception to date.

The Company assesses categorization of assets and liabilities by level at each measurement date, and transfers between levels are recognized on the actual date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were no transfers between Levels I, II and III during the nine months ended September 30, 2018.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and fair value of the Senior Secured Credit Facility as of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017 (in thousands):

	September 30, 2018		December 31 2017	,
	Carrying	Fair Value	Carrying	Fair Value
Senior Secured Credit Facility	Amount \$ 227.610	Level 2 \$ 232.027	Amount \$ 228.986	Level 2 \$ 232.933

## 11. Income Taxes

The "Provision for income taxes" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is based on an estimate of the Company's annualized effective income tax rate. The Company recognizes the effect of income tax positions only if those positions are more likely than not of being sustained. Recognized income tax positions are measured at the largest amount that is greater than 50% likely of being realized. Changes in recognition or measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs. As of September 30, 2018, the Company does not believe it has any significant uncertain tax positions.

On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act was enacted which includes significant changes to the U.S. corporate tax system. On December 22, 2017, the SEC staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin 118, which provides guidance on accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act for which the accounting under ASC 740, Income Taxes ("ASC 740") is incomplete. To the extent that a company's accounting for certain income tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act is incomplete but it is able to determine a reasonable estimate, it must record a provisional estimate in the financial statements. If a company cannot determine a provisional estimate to be included in the financial statements, it should continue to apply ASC 740 on the basis of the provisions of the tax laws that were in

effect immediately before enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

The Company completed the majority of the accounting for the tax effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act as of December 31, 2017. However, the Company's analysis around the new foreign-derived intangible income ("FDII") deduction remains incomplete. As such, the Company has not estimated or included a provisional adjustment for deferred tax assets related to the FDII deduction. The Company is still analyzing certain aspects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and is refining its calculations, which could potentially affect the measurement of these balances. In accordance with current SEC guidance, the Company will report the impact of these items in the reporting period in which the accounting is completed, which will not exceed one year from the date of enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act.

#### 12. Equity-Based Compensation

The RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. 2013 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the "2013 Incentive Plan") includes restricted stock units ("RSUs") which may have time-based or performance-based vesting criteria. The Company recognizes equity-based compensation expense in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income. The Company recognizes corporate income tax benefits relating to the vesting of restricted stock units in "Provision for income taxes" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.

Employee stock-based compensation expense under the Company's 2013 Incentive Plan, net of the amount capitalized in internally developed software, is as follows (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2018	2017	2018	2017
Expense from Time-based RSUs	\$ 1,412	\$ 750	\$ 3,270	\$ 1,892
Expense from Performance-based RSUs	1,305	118	2,871	269
Equity-based compensation expense	2,717	868	6,141	2,161
Tax benefit from equity-based compensation	(384)	(191)	(868)	(475)
Excess tax benefit from equity-based compensation			(145)	(324)
Net compensation cost	\$ 2,333	\$ 677	\$ 5,128	\$ 1,362
Time-based Restricted Stock Units				

Time-based RSUs are valued using the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant. Grants awarded to the Company's Board of Directors generally vest over a one-year period. Grants awarded to the Company's employees, other than booj employees and former owners in connection with the acquisition, generally vest equally in annual installments over a three-year period. Grants awarded to booj employees and former owners in connection with the acquisition vest in three installments over a four-year period. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The following table summarizes equity-based compensation activity related to time-based RSUs as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018:

	Time-based	Weighted average
	restricted stock	grant date fair
	units	value per share
Balance, January 1, 2018	105,862	\$ 41.67
Granted	253,315	\$ 54.06
Shares vested (including tax withholding)(a)	(64,878)	\$ 40.96
Forfeited	(4,477)	\$ 42.38
Balance, September 30, 2018	289,822	\$ 52.65

<sup>(</sup>a) Pursuant to the terms of the 2013 Incentive Plan, RSUs withheld by the Company for the payment of the employee's tax withholding related to an RSU vesting are added back to the pool of shares available for future awards.

At September 30, 2018, there was \$12.4 million of total unrecognized time-based RSU expense, all of which is related to unvested awards. This compensation expense is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average remaining

vesting period of 2.86 years for time-based restricted stock units.

Performance-based Restricted Stock Units

Performance-based RSUs for employees, other than booj employees and former owners in connection with the acquisition, are stock-based awards in which the number of shares ultimately received depends on the Company's

## **Table of Contents**

achievement of a specified revenue target as well as the Company's total shareholder return ("TSR") relative to the TSR of all companies in the S&P SmallCap 600 Index over a three-year performance period. The number of shares that could be issued range from 0% to 150% of the participant's target award. Performance-based RSUs are valued on the date of grant using a Monte Carlo simulation for the TSR element of the award. The Company's expense will be adjusted based on the estimated achievement of revenue versus target. Earned performance-based RSUs cliff-vest at the end of the three-year performance period. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Company's estimated performance.

Performance-based RSUs granted to booj employees and former owners in connection with the acquisition are stock-based awards in which the number of shares ultimately received depends on the achievement of certain technology requirements set forth in the related purchase agreement. The number of shares that could be issued range from 0% to 100% of the participant's target award. The awards were valued using the Company's closing stock price on the date of grant. The Company's expense will be adjusted based on the estimated achievement of the requirements. Earned performance-based RSUs vest May 31, 2019 and November 1, 2019 to the extent the corresponding requirements are achieved. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the vesting period based on the Company's estimated performance.

The following table summarizes equity-based compensation activity related to performance-based RSUs as of and for the nine months ended September 30, 2018:

Balance, January 1, 2018 Granted(a) Forfeited	Performance-based restricted stock units 31,831 156,694 (3.213)	Weighted average grant date fair value per share \$ 57.88 \$ 55.38 \$ 57.55
Forfeited	(3,213)	\$ 57.55
Balance, September 30, 2018	185,312	\$ 55.77

#### (a) Represents the total participant target award.

At September 30, 2018, there was \$6.1 million of total unrecognized performance-based RSU expense, all of which is related to unvested awards. This compensation expense is expected to be recognized over the weighted-average remaining vesting period of 1.47 years for performance-based RSUs.

After giving effect to all outstanding awards (assuming maximum achievement of performance goals for performance-based awards), there were 2,241,423 additional shares available for the Company to grant under the 2013 Incentive Plan as of September 30, 2018.

## 13. Leadership Change

On February 9, 2018, the Company announced the retirement of the Company's President. The Company entered into a Separation Agreement with the President, and pursuant to the terms of this agreement, the Company incurred a total cost of \$1.8 million which was recorded to "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, which will be paid over a 39-month period.

## 14. Commitments and Contingencies

## Commitments

The Company leases offices and equipment under noncancelable leases, subject to certain provisions for renewal options and escalation clauses. On August 16, 2017, the Company entered into a sublease agreement for certain office space at its corporate headquarters where the Company's expected costs related to the subleased space, including lease payments the Company will make to its lessor, exceed the anticipated revenue, and as a result, the Company recorded a loss of \$3.7

## **Table of Contents**

million during the three and nine months ended September 30, 2017. Additionally, the Company acquired an office lease in connection with the acquisition of booj. Future lease payments related to the booj office lease are approximately \$0.2 million per year for the next five years with payments thereafter totaling approximately \$2.0 million.

#### Contingencies

In connection with the purchase of Full House, the Company entered into an arrangement to pay additional purchase consideration based on Motto's future gross revenues collected, excluding certain fees, for each year beginning October 1, 2017 through September 30, 2026. As of September 30, 2018, this liability was estimated to be \$5.7 million. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

In connection with the sale of the assets and liabilities related to the Company's previously owned brokerages, the Company entered into three Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreements (the "Assignment Agreements") pursuant to which the Company assigned its obligations under and rights, title and interest in 21 leases to the respective purchasers. For certain leases, the Company remains secondarily liable for future lease payments through July 2021 under the respective lease agreements and accordingly, as of September 30, 2018, the Company has outstanding lease guarantees of \$2.3 million. This amount represents the maximum potential amount of future payments under the respective lease guarantees. In the event of default by the purchaser, the indemnity and default clauses in the Assignment Agreements govern the Company's ability to pursue and recover damages incurred, if any, against the purchaser.

## Litigation

The Company is subject to litigation claims arising in the ordinary course of business. The Company believes that it has adequately accrued for legal matters in accordance with the requirements of GAAP. The Company records litigation accruals for legal matters which are both probable and estimable and for related legal costs as incurred. The Company does not reduce these liabilities for potential insurance or third-party recoveries.

On February 13, 2018, a settlement was reached in the litigation surrounding the acquisition of the net assets of Tails, as described in the Company's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. The Company recorded a charge equivalent to the net cost of this settlement of \$2.6 million in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Income during the three months ended September 30, 2017.

Management of the Company believes that no other such litigation matters involving a reasonably possible chance of loss will, individually or in the aggregate, result in a material adverse effect on the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

#### 15. Related-Party Transactions

The majority stockholders of RIHI, specifically the Company's current Chairman and Co-Founder and the Company's Vice Chair and Co-Founder have made and continue to make a golf course they own available to the Company for business purposes. The Company used the golf course and related facilities for business purposes at minimal charge during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017. Additionally, the Company recorded expense of \$0.2 million and \$0.5 million for the value of the benefits provided to Company personnel and others for the

complimentary use of the golf course during the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, and \$0.5 million during both the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, with an offsetting increase in additional paid in capital.

The Company provides services, such as accounting, legal, marketing, technology, human resources and public relations services, to certain affiliated entities (primarily the Company's affiliated advertising funds), and it allows these companies to share its leased office space. During both the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the total amount allocated for services rendered and rent for office space provided on behalf of affiliated entities was \$0.9 million. During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, the total amounts allocated for services rendered and rent for office space provided on behalf of affiliated entities were \$2.8 million and \$2.4 million, respectively. Amounts are generally paid within 30 days and no amounts were outstanding at September 30, 2018 or December 31, 2017.

Related party advertising funds had current outstanding amounts due from the Company of \$0.1 million as of both September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017. Such amounts are included in "Accounts payable" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets.

## 16. Segment Information

The Company has one reportable segment: RE/MAX Franchising. Other consists of the Motto Franchising and booj operating segments. Management evaluates the operating results of its segments based upon revenue and adjusted earnings before interest, the provision for income taxes, depreciation and amortization and other non-cash and non-recurring cash charges or other items ("Adjusted EBITDA"). The Company's presentation of Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similar measures used by other companies. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those described in Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The following table presents revenue from external customers by segment for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

		Nine Months September 30	
	2017		2017
2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*
\$ 52,450	\$ 48,908	\$ 156,154	\$ 144,959
2,416	163	5,631	245
\$ 54,866	\$ 49,071	\$ 161,785	\$ 145,204
	September 3 2018 \$ 52,450 2,416	2018 As adjusted*  \$ 52,450 \$ 48,908 2,416 163	September 30,       September 30,         2017       2018         As adjusted*       2018         \$ 52,450       \$ 48,908         2,416       163         \$ 5,631

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

The following table presents a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA by segment to income before provision for income taxes for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended		Nine Months Ended	
	September 3	30,	September 3	0,
		2017	2017	
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*
Adjusted EBITDA: RE/MAX Franchising	\$ 30,632	\$ 26,582	\$ 84,429	\$ 78,737
Adjusted EBITDA: Other	(1,169)	(698)	(3,377)	(2,169)
Adjusted EBITDA: Consolidated	29,463	25,884	81,052	76,568
Gain (loss) on sale or disposition of assets and				
sublease, net(a)	5	(3,980)	146	(3,859)
Equity-based compensation expense	(2,717)	(868)	(6,141)	(2,161)
Acquisition-related expense(b)	(141)	(3,566)	(1,628)	(4,398)

Special Committee investigation and remediation				
expense(c)	(111)	_	(2,761)	_
Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration(d)	940	(420)	860	(250)
Interest income	180	145	397	195
Interest expense	(3,050)	(2,598)	(8,945)	(7,414)
Depreciation and amortization	(5,608)	(4,286)	(15,252)	(15,678)
Income before provision for income taxes	\$ 18,961	\$ 10,311	\$ 47,728	\$ 43,003

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

- (a) Represents gain (loss) on the sale or disposition of assets as well as the gains (losses) on the sublease of a portion of our corporate headquarters office building.
- (b) Acquisition-related expense includes legal, accounting, advisory and consulting fees incurred in connection with the acquisition and integration of acquired companies that are included in "Selling, operating and administrative expenses" in the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Statements of Income.
- (c) Special Committee investigation and remediation expense relates to costs incurred in relation to the previously disclosed investigation by the special committee of independent directors of actions of certain members of our senior management and the implementation of the remediation plan.

## **Table of Contents**

(d) Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration include amounts recognized for changes in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the acquisition of Full House. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

(e)

## 17. Subsequent Events

On October 4, 2018, with the Company's approval, Oberndorf Investments, LLC ("Oberndorf") assigned all of its rights, title and interest in and to the Tax Receivable Agreement with the Company ("TRA") to Parallaxes Opportunity Fund I, LP ("Parallaxes"). Of the amounts reflected in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets as of September 30, 2018 within "Current portion of payable pursuant to tax receivable agreements" and "Payable pursuant to tax receivable agreement", \$21.7 million was owed to Oberndorf and subject to this assignment. The assignment does not impact the financial position or results of operations and cash flows of the Company.

On October 7, 2018, pursuant to the terms of the Company's Certificate of Incorporation, RIHI lost its previous effective control of a majority of the voting power of RE/MAX Holdings common stock. RIHI owns all of RE/MAX Holdings' Class B common stock which, prior to October 7, 2018, entitled RIHI to a number of votes on matters presented to RE/MAX Holdings stockholders equal to two times the number of RMCO common units that RIHI held. Effective October 7, 2018, the voting power of Class B common stock was reduced to equal the number of RMCO common units held, and therefore RIHI lost the controlling vote of RE/MAX Holdings. As a result of this change in the voting rights of the Class B common stock, RIHI no longer controls a majority of the voting power of RE/MAX Holdings' common stock, and RE/MAX Holdings no longer constitutes a "controlled company" under the corporate governance standards of the New York Stock Exchange (the "NYSE"). RE/MAX Holdings does not currently take advantage of any of the exemptions for controlled companies under NYSE listing standards. RIHI remains a significant stockholder of the Company and through its ownership of the Class B common stock holds approximately 42% of the voting power of the Company's stock. See Item 1 of the Company's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 2.

#### MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

#### OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of our operations should be read together with the condensed consolidated financial statements and the related notes of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. included in Item 1 of Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with the audited consolidated financial statements and the related notes of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. included in our most recent Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 ("2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K").

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). These statements are often identified by the use of words such as "believe," "intend," "expect," "estimate," "plan," "outlook," "project," "anticipate," "may," "will," "would" and other similar words and expressions that predict or indicate future events or trends that are not statements of historical matters. Forward-looking statements include statements related to: agent count; franchise sales; revenue; operating expenses; financial outlook; our plans regarding dividends; non-GAAP financial measures; housing and mortgage market conditions; economic and demographic trends; competition; the anticipated benefits of the acquisition and integration of booj and other technology initiatives; our anticipated sources and uses of liquidity including for potential reacquisitions of Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada as well as additional acquisitions or investments in complementary business, services and technologies; the Company's strategic and operating plans and business models including our plans to re-invest in our business; and our Board of Directors and management structure, including the roles of Adam Contos and the senior management team, the roles of David Liniger and of Richard Covey and the independent members of the Board of Directors. Forward looking statements also include statements related to: the implications and potential impact of the previously disclosed investigation by the special committee of the Board of Directors into actions of certain members of the Company's senior management, which was concluded in February 2018 and any remedial measures taken in response to the investigation (the "Special Committee investigation and remediation"); our remedial efforts and other measures in response to the outcome, findings and recommendations of the Special Committee investigation and remediation; and our efforts to remediate the material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, including our goal to remediate such material weakness in 2018.

Forward-looking statements should not be read as a guarantee of future performance or results and will not necessarily accurately indicate the times at which such performance or results may be achieved. Forward-looking statements are based on information available at the time those statements are made and/or management's good faith belief as of that time with respect to future events and are subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual performance or results to differ materiality from those expressed in or suggested by the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, but are not limited to, those identified herein, and those discussed in the section titled "Risk Factors," set forth in Part II, Item 1A of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and in Part I, Item 1A of our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Readers are cautioned not to place undue reliance on forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this report. Except as required by law, we do not intend, and we undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect events or circumstances after the date of such statements.

The results of operations discussed in this "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" are those of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. ("RE/MAX Holdings") and its consolidated subsidiaries, including RMCO, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries ("RMCO"), collectively, the "Company," "we," "our" or "us."

## **Business Overview**

We are one of the world's leading franchisors in the real estate industry, franchising real estate brokerages globally under the RE/MAX brand ("RE/MAX") and mortgage brokerages within the U.S. under the Motto Mortgage brand ("Motto"). RE/MAX, founded in 1973, has over 120,000 agents operating in over 7,000 offices and a presence in more than 100 countries and territories. Nobody in the world sells more real estate than RE/MAX, as measured by residential transaction sides. The RE/MAX brand has the highest level of unaided brand awareness in real estate in the U.S. and

## **Table of Contents**

Canada according to a consumer study conducted by MMR Strategy Group, and our iconic red, white and blue RE/MAX hot air balloon is one of the most recognized real estate logos in the world. Motto, founded in 2016, is the first national mortgage brokerage franchise offering in the U.S.

In 2018, we have focused on enhancing and investing in the technology supporting our franchised business model. We acquired certain assets of booj in February 2018 to deliver core technology solutions designed for and with RE/MAX affiliates. Leveraging booj's existing technology stack, we are developing a custom-built, integrated platform with products that interact and evolve with one another. Included in this platform will be a CRM integrated with agent, office and team websites, lead cultivation tools, marketing resources, social integration and more. We will also leverage the capabilities of other strategic partners as we develop advanced technology solutions for the RE/MAX network. We expect to continue to invest meaningfully in technology as we seek to enhance our overall value proposition to our brokers, agents and consumers, which will continue to impact margins in 2018.

The U.S. housing market is experiencing a larger-than-expected slowdown in home sales this fall, as homebuyers and sellers adapt to a shifting market. We believe market participants are adjusting to the changing market conditions – price appreciation, low inventory, and rising interest rates – and this recalibration likely represents a temporary transition rather than a lasting trend. The housing market has generally favored sellers for a while so we believe a move toward greater equilibrium will be healthy for housing over the longer term. Additionally, our U.S. and Canadian agent count growth rates modestly decelerated during the third quarter. We expect the current homes sales and agent count growth rate trends to continue through at least the end of 2018.

Financial and Operational Highlights – Three Months Ended September 30, 2018

(Compared to three months ended September 30, 2017, as adjusted\*, unless otherwise noted)

\*See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

- · Total agent count grew by 5.4% to 123,905 agents.
- · U.S. and Canada combined agent count increased 1.2% to 85,698 agents.
- · Revenue of \$54.9 million, up 11.8% from the prior year.
- · Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. of \$8.1 million.
- · Adjusted EBITDA of \$29.5 million and Adjusted EBITDA margin of 53.7%.

During the three months ended September 30, 2018, we grew our total agent count 5.4% as compared to the three months ended September 30, 2017. We sold 34 Motto franchises during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, resulting in a total of 100 Motto franchises sold from inception in October 2016 through September 30, 2018. During the three months ended September 30, 2018, our revenue increased primarily due to contributions from the acquisitions of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois in November 2017 and booj in February 2018, which together added \$3.0 million, or 6.1%. Organic growth increased revenue \$2.9 million, or 6.0%. During the third quarter of 2017, we waived approximately \$1.7 million of continuing franchise fees and broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates. Excluding the effect of these fee waivers, organic revenue growth was 2.5% and was driven primarily by agent count increases, Motto expansion and rising average home prices. These revenue increases were partially offset by increased investments in technology and Motto in the three months ended September 30, 2018.

## Selected Operating and Financial Highlights

For comparability purposes, the following tables set forth our agent count and results of operations for the periods presented in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The period-to-period comparison of agent count and financial results is not necessarily indicative of future performance.

			Change		
	As of Sept	ember 30,	Favorable/	(Unfavorable	e)
	2018	2017	#	%	
RE/MAX Agent Count:					
U.S.	64,290	63,549	741	1.2	%
Canada	21,408	21,160	248	1.2	%
U.S. and Canada Total	85,698	84,709	989	1.2	%
Outside U.S. and Canada	38,207	32,859	5,348	16.3	%
Network-wide agent count	123,905	117,568	6,337	5.4	%

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months E September 30,	Inded
	1	2017	1	2017
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*
Total revenue	\$ 54,866	\$ 49,071	\$ 161,785	\$ 145,204
Total selling, operating and administrative				
expenses	\$ 27,461	\$ 31,843	\$ 90,136	\$ 79,167
Operating income	\$ 21,807	\$ 12,491	\$ 56,438	\$ 49,933
Net income attributable to RE/MAX Holdings,				
Inc.	\$ 8,139	\$ 3,717	\$ 20,770	\$ 15,715
Adjusted EBITDA(1)	\$ 29,463	\$ 25,884	\$ 81,052	\$ 76,568
Adjusted EBITDA margin(1)	53.7 %	52.7 %	50.1 %	52.7 %

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

•

Comparison of the Three Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

## Revenue

A summary of the components of our revenue for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands except percentages):

<sup>(1)</sup> See "—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for further discussion of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin and a reconciliation of the differences between Adjusted EBITDA and net income, which is the most comparable U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP") measure for operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA margin represents Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of total revenue.

Results of Operations

Edgar Filing: RE/MAX Holdings, Inc. - Form 10-Q

	Three Months Ended September 30, 2017		Change Favorable/(Un	nfavorable)
	2018	As adjusted*	\$	%
Revenue:		J		
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 25,495	\$ 23,049	\$ 2,446	10.6 %
Annual dues	9,106	8,592	514	6.0 %
Broker fees	13,488	12,125	1,363	11.2 %
Franchise sales and other revenue	6,777	5,305	1,472	27.7 %
Total revenue	\$ 54,866	\$ 49,071	\$ 5,795	11.8 %

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

## **Table of Contents**

Consolidated revenue increased \$3.0 million, or 6.1%, due to the acquisitions of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois and booj and \$2.9 million, or 6.0%, due to organic growth, partially offset by a \$0.1 million, or 0.3%, from foreign currency movements. During the third quarter of 2017, we waived approximately \$1.7 million of continuing franchise fees and broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates. Excluding the impact of these fee waivers, organic growth was 2.5% and was driven primarily by agent count increases, Motto expansion and rising average home prices.

## Continuing Franchise Fees

Revenue from continuing franchise fees increased primarily as a result of having waived approximately \$1.1 million of continuing franchise fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017, contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, which added \$0.9 million, Motto expansion and agent count growth.

#### **Annual Dues**

Revenue from annual dues increased primarily due to the July 1, 2017 fee increase and an increase in agent count in the U.S. and Canada. Revenue from annual dues is not affected by our acquisitions of Independent Regions because agents in the U.S. and Canadian Independent Regions already pay annual dues to us in the same amounts as agents in Company-owned Regions.

#### **Broker Fees**

Revenue from broker fees increased primarily due to organic growth of \$1.0 million driven primarily by having waived approximately \$0.5 million of broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017, rising average home prices and agent count growth, partially offset by total transactions per agent. Contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois added \$0.4 million.

# Franchise Sales and Other Revenue

Franchise sales and other revenue increased primarily due to revenue contributed from booj.

#### **Operating Expenses**

A summary of the components of our operating expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Change Favorable/(Unfavorable)	
	2018	2017 As adjusted*	\$	%
Operating expenses:	2010	1 is adjusted	Ψ	,0
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 27,461	\$ 31,843	\$ 4,382	13.8 %
Depreciation and amortization	5,608	4,286	(1,322)	(30.8) %
(Gain) loss on sale or disposition of assets, net	(10)	451	461	n/m
Total operating expenses	\$ 33,059	\$ 36,580	\$ 3,521	9.6 %
Percent of revenue	60.3 %	74.5	Ó	

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

Selling, Operating and Administrative Expenses

Selling, operating and administrative expenses consisted of personnel costs, professional fee expenses, rent and related facility operations expense (including losses on subleases) and other expenses. Other expenses include certain marketing and production costs that are not paid by our related party advertising funds, including travel and entertainment costs, and costs associated with our annual conventions in the U.S. and other events.

#### **Table of Contents**

A summary of the components of our selling, operating and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Change Favorable/(Unfavorable)	
	2010	2017		~
	2018	As adjusted*	\$	%
Selling, operating and administrative expenses:				
Personnel	\$ 15,350	\$ 11,981	\$ (3,369)	(28.1) %
Professional fees	3,396	3,855	459	11.9 %
Rent and related facility operations	2,247	5,877	3,630	61.8 %
Other	6,468	10,130	3,662	36.2 %
Total selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 27,461	\$ 31,843	\$ 4,382	13.8 %
Percent of revenue	50.1 %	64.9 %	ó	

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

Total selling, operating and administrative expenses decreased as follows:

- · Personnel costs increased primarily due to \$2.0 million in costs, including incremental stock-based compensation expense, to support our increased investments in technology and \$1.5 million in costs to support booj's operations assisting its external customers.
- · Professional fees decreased primarily due to costs incurred during the third quarter of 2017 in connection with litigation related to our 2013 acquisition of the net assets of Tails (See Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies), partially offset by investments in technology.
- Rent and related facility operations decreased primarily due to a \$3.7 million loss recognized during the third quarter of 2017 related to subleasing a portion of our corporate office building.
- · Other selling, operating and administrative expenses decreased primarily due to charges in the three months ended September 30, 2017 that did not recur, including a \$2.6 million net litigation settlement related to our 2013 acquisition of the net assets of Tails (See Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies) and the refresh of the RE/MAX brand. Additionally, during the three months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded an adjustment to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the acquisition of Full House (See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements). These aforementioned decreases were partially offset by additional costs to support booj's operations assisting its external customers.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased primarily due to amortization expense related to intangibles acquired in connection with the acquisitions of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois and booj and a measurement adjustment recorded related to the purchase price allocation for booj. See Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information.

#### Other Expenses, Net

A summary of the components of our other expenses, net for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Change Favorable/(Unfavora		)
	2018	2017	\$	%	
Other expenses, net:					
Interest expense	\$ (3,050)	\$ (2,598)	\$ (452)	(17.4)	%
Interest income	180	145	35	24.1	%
Foreign currency transaction gain	24	273	(249)	(91.2)	%
Total other expenses, net	\$ (2,846)	\$ (2,180)	\$ (666)	(30.6)	%
Percent of revenue	5.2	% 4.4	%		

Other expenses, net increased primarily due to an increase in interest expense as a result of increasing interest rates on our Senior Secured Credit Facility and a decrease in foreign currency transaction gains that were primarily a result of fluctuations of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar.

#### **Provision for Income Taxes**

Our effective income tax rate decreased to 18.0% from 29.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, primarily due to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017 which resulted in a substantial reduction in our corporate tax rate. See Note 11, Income Taxes for further information on the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Our effective income tax rate depends on many factors, including a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the portion of RMCO's earnings attributable to the non-controlling interests are not subject to corporate-level taxes because RMCO is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore is treated as a "flow-through entity," as well as annual changes in state and foreign income tax rates. See Note 4, Non-controlling Interest for further details on the allocation of income taxes between RE/MAX Holdings and the non-controlling interest.

#### Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interest

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, which represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in RMCO held by RIHI, increased \$3.8 million primarily due to an increase in RMCO's net income during the three months ended September 30, 2018 compared to September 30, 2017.

## Adjusted EBITDA

See "—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for our definition of Adjusted EBITDA and for further discussion of our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, which is the most comparable GAAP measure for operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA was \$29.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of \$3.6 million from the comparable prior year period. Adjusted EBITDA increased primarily due to contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, agent count growth, rising average home prices and the impact of having waived continuing franchise fees and broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017, partially offset by increased investments in technology during the third quarter of 2018.

Comparison of the Nine Months Ended September 30, 2018 and 2017

#### Revenue

A summary of the components of our revenue for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017		Change Favorable/(Un	favorable)	
	2018	As adjusted*	\$	%	
Revenue:		3			
Continuing franchise fees	\$ 75,946	\$ 69,298	\$ 6,648	9.6 %	
Annual dues	26,775	25,148	1,627	6.5 %	
Broker fees	36,669	32,914	3,755	11.4 %	
Franchise sales and other revenue	22,395	17,844	4,551	25.5 %	
Total revenue	\$ 161,785	\$ 145,204	\$ 16,581	11.4 %	

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

Consolidated revenue increased \$8.6 million, or 5.9%, due to organic growth, primarily as a result of agent count increases, rising average home prices, the impact of having waived approximately \$1.7 million of continuing franchise fees and broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017, Motto expansion and event-based revenue from our annual convention in the U.S. Contributions due to the acquisitions of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois and booj added \$7.7 million, or 5.3%. Foreign currency movements increased revenue \$0.3 million, or 0.2%

## Continuing Franchise Fees

Revenue from continuing franchise fees increased primarily as a result of contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, which added \$2.7 million, agent count growth and Motto expansion. Additionally, the Company waived approximately \$1.1 million of continuing franchise fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017.

#### Annual Dues

Revenue from annual dues increased primarily due to an increase in agent count in the U.S. and Canada and the July 1, 2017 fee increase. Revenue from annual dues is not affected by our acquisitions of Independent Regions because agents in the U.S. and Canadian Independent Regions already pay annual dues to us in the same amounts as agents in Company-owned Regions.

#### **Broker Fees**

Revenue from broker fees increased primarily due to organic growth of \$2.8 million driven primarily by rising average home prices, agent count growth and having waived approximately \$0.5 million of broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017. Contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois added \$1.0 million.

# Franchise Sales and Other Revenue

Franchise sales and other revenue increased primarily due to revenue contributed from booj and event-based revenue from our annual convention in the U.S.

#### **Table of Contents**

## **Operating Expenses**

A summary of the components of our operating expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change Favorable/(Unfavorable)		
	2019	2017	Φ	01	
Operating expenses:	2018	As adjusted*	\$	%	
Selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 90,136	\$ 79,167	\$ (10,969)	(13.9) %	
Depreciation and amortization	15,252	15,678	426	2.7 %	
(Gain) loss on sale or disposition of assets, net	(41)	426	467	n/m	
Total operating expenses	\$ 105,347	\$ 95,271	\$ (10,076)	(10.6) %	
Percent of revenue	65.1 %	65.6 %			

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

Selling, Operating and Administrative Expenses

A summary of the components of our selling, operating and administrative expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended September 30, 2017		Change Favorable/(Unfavorable)		
	2018	As adjusted*	\$	%	
Selling, operating and administrative expenses:					
Personnel	\$ 46,391	\$ 33,582	\$ (12,809)	(38.1) %	
Professional fees	12,485	10,354	(2,131)	(20.6) %	
Rent and related facility operations	6,864	10,398	3,534	34.0 %	
Other	24,396	24,833	437	1.8 %	
Total selling, operating and administrative expenses	\$ 90,136	\$ 79,167	\$ (10,969)	(13.9) %	
Percent of revenue	55.7 %	54.5 %			

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

Total selling, operating and administrative expenses increased as follows:

- · Personnel costs increased primarily due to \$3.9 million in costs, including incremental stock-based compensation expense, to support our increased investments in technology, \$3.8 million in costs to support booj's operations assisting its external customers, severance of \$1.8 million in connection with the retirement of the Company's former President, investments to support Motto and additional other personnel investments.
- · Professional fees increased primarily due to \$2.4 million in costs related to the Special Committee investigation and remediation, and investments in technology, partially offset by costs incurred during the third quarter of 2017 in connection with litigation related to our 2013 acquisition of the net assets of Tails (See Note 14, Commitments and

# Contingencies).

- · Rent and related facility operations decreased primarily due to a \$3.7 million loss recognized during the third quarter of 2017 related to subleasing a portion of our corporate office building.
- · Other selling, operating and administrative expenses decreased slightly primarily due to charges in the nine months ended September 30, 2017 that did not recur, including a \$2.6 million net litigation settlement related to our 2013 acquisition of the net assets of Tails (See Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies) and the refresh of

the RE/MAX brand. Additionally, during the nine months ended September 30, 2018, we recorded an adjustment to the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the acquisition of Full House (See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements). These aforementioned decreases were largely offset by additional costs to support booj's operations assisting its external customers, increased investments in RE/MAX of Northern Illinois and Motto and increases in expenses related to higher attendance at our annual convention in the U.S. Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense decreased primarily due to certain acquired franchise agreements reaching the end of their contractual term, partially offset by amortization expense related to intangibles acquired in connection with the acquisitions of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois and booj and a measurement adjustment recorded related to the purchase price allocation for booj. See Note 6, Acquisitions for additional information.

## Other Expenses, Net

A summary of the components of our other expenses, net for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, is as follows (in thousands, except percentages):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,		Change Favorable/(Ur	Change Favorable/(Unfavorable)		
	2018	2017	\$	%		
Other expenses, net:						
Interest expense	\$ (8,945)	\$ (7,414)	\$ (1,531)	(20.7) %		
Interest income	397	195	202	n/m		
Foreign currency transaction (loss) gain	(162)	289	(451)	n/m		
Total other expenses, net	\$ (8,710)	\$ (6,930)	\$ (1,780)	(25.7) %		
Percent of revenue	5.4 %	4.8	%			

Other expenses, net increased primarily due to an increase in interest expense as a result of increasing interest rates on our Senior Secured Credit Facility and a change in foreign currency transaction (losses) gains that were primarily a result of fluctuations of the Canadian dollar against the U.S. dollar.

## **Provision for Income Taxes**

Our effective income tax rate decreased to 17.7% from 25.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively, primarily due to the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017 which resulted in a substantial reduction in our corporate tax rate. See Note 11, Income Taxes for further information on the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Our effective income tax rate depends on many factors, including a rate benefit attributable to the fact that the portion of RMCO's earnings attributable to the non-controlling interests are not subject to corporate-level taxes because RMCO is classified as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes and therefore is treated as a "flow through entity," as well as annual changes in state and foreign income tax rates. See Note 4, Non-controlling Interest for further details on the allocation of income taxes between RE/MAX Holdings and the non-controlling interest.

## Net Income Attributable to Non-controlling Interest

Net income attributable to non-controlling interest, which represents the portion of earnings attributable to the economic interest in RMCO held by RIHI, increased \$2.0 million primarily due to an increase in RMCO's net income during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 compared to September 30, 2017.

## **Table of Contents**

# Adjusted EBITDA

See "—Non-GAAP Financial Measures" for our definition of Adjusted EBITDA and for further discussion of our presentation of Adjusted EBITDA as well as a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income, which is the most comparable GAAP measure for operating performance.

Adjusted EBITDA was \$81.1 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2018, an increase of \$4.5 million from the comparable prior year period. Adjusted EBITDA increased primarily due to contributions from the acquisition of RE/MAX of Northern Illinois, agent count growth, rising average home prices and the impact of having waived continuing franchise fees and broker fees for hurricane-impacted associates during the third quarter of 2017, partially offset by increased investments in personnel and technology, severance of \$1.8 million in connection with the retirement of the Company's former President, additional costs to support booj's operations assisting its external customers and increased investments in Motto.

## Non-GAAP Financial Measures

The Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") has adopted rules to regulate the use in filings with the SEC and in public disclosures of financial measures that are not in accordance with U.S. GAAP, such as Adjusted EBITDA and the ratios related thereto. These measures are derived on the basis of methodologies other than in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

We define Adjusted EBITDA as EBITDA (consolidated net income before depreciation and amortization, interest expense, interest income and the provision for income taxes, each of which is presented in our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q), adjusted for the impact of the following items that are either non-cash or that we do not consider representative of our ongoing operating performance: loss or gain on sale or disposition of assets and sublease, equity-based compensation expense, acquisition-related expense, Special Committee investigation and remediation expense, expense or income related to changes in the estimated fair value measurement of contingent consideration and other non-recurring items. During the first quarter of 2018, we revised our definition of Adjusted EBITDA to better reflect the performance of our business. We now adjust for expense or income related to changes in the estimated fair value measurement of contingent consideration as these are non-cash items that management believes are not reflective of operating performance. Adjusted EBITDA was revised in prior periods to reflect this change for consistency in presentation.

Because Adjusted EBITDA omits certain non-cash items and other non-recurring cash charges or other items, we believe that it is less susceptible to variances that affect our operating performance resulting from depreciation, amortization and other non-cash and non-recurring cash charges or other items. We present Adjusted EBITDA, and the related Adjusted EBITDA margin, because we believe they are useful as supplemental measures in evaluating the performance of our operating businesses and provides greater transparency into our results of operations. Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin as factors in evaluating the performance of our business.

Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA margin have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider these measures either in isolation or as a substitute for analyzing our results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

- · these measures do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;
- these measures do not reflect our interest expense, or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or principal payments on our debt;
- · these measures do not reflect our income tax expense or the cash requirements to pay our taxes;

- · these measures do not reflect the cash requirements to pay dividends to stockholders of our Class A common stock and tax and other cash distributions to our non-controlling unitholders;
- these measures do not reflect the cash requirements pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreements ("TRAs");

#### **Table of Contents**

- · although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often require replacement in the future, and these measures do not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;
- · although equity-based compensation is a non-cash charge, the issuance of equity-based awards may have a dilutive impact on earnings per share; and
- · other companies may calculate these measures differently, so similarly named measures may not be comparable. A reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 is set forth in the following table (in thousands):

	Three Months Ended September 30,		Nine Months Ended September 30,		d
		2017		2017	
	2018	As adjusted*	2018	As adjusted*	
Net income	\$ 15,541	\$ 7,290	\$ 39,299	\$	32,217
Depreciation and amortization	5,608	4,286	15,252		15,678
Interest expense	3,050	2,598	8,945		7,414
Interest income	(180)	(145)	(397)		(195)
Provision for income taxes	3,420	3,021	8,429		10,786
EBITDA	27,439	17,050	71,528		65,900
(Gain) loss on sale or disposition of assets and sublease,					
net(1)	(5)	3,980	(146)		3,859
Equity-based compensation expense	2,717	868	6,141		2,161
Acquisition-related expense(2)	141	3,566	1,628		4,398
Special Committee investigation and remediation					
expense(3)	111	_	2,761		
Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration(4)	(940)	420	(860)		250
Adjusted EBITDA	\$ 29,463	\$ 25,884	\$ 81,052	\$	76,568

<sup>\*</sup>See Note 3, Revenue for more information.

- (1) Represents (gain) loss on the sale or disposition of assets as well as the (gains) losses on the sublease of a portion of our corporate headquarters office building.
- (2) Acquisition-related expense includes legal, accounting, advisory and consulting fees incurred in connection with the acquisition and integration of acquired companies.
- (3) Special Committee investigation and remediation expense relates to costs incurred in relation to the previously disclosed investigation by the special committee of independent directors of actions of certain members of our senior management and the implementation of the remediation plan.
- (4) Fair value adjustments to contingent consideration include amounts recognized for changes in the estimated fair value of the contingent consideration liability related to the acquisition of Full House. See Note 10, Fair Value Measurements for additional information.

#### **Table of Contents**

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview of Factors Affecting Our Liquidity

Our liquidity position is affected by the growth of our agent base and conditions in the real estate market. In this regard, our short-term liquidity position from time to time has been, and will continue to be, affected by the number of agents in the RE/MAX network among other factors. Our cash flows are primarily related to the timing of:

- (i) cash receipt of revenues;
- (ii) payment of selling, operating and administrative expenses, including investment to grow Motto;
- (iii) cash consideration for acquisitions and acquisition-related expenses;
- (iv) principal payments and related interest payments on our Senior Secured Credit Facility;
- (v) investments in technology;
- (vi) dividend payments to stockholders of our Class A common stock;
- (vii) distributions and other payments to non-controlling unitholders pursuant to the terms of RMCO's fourth amended and restated limited liability company operating agreement ("the New RMCO, LLC Agreement");
- (viii) corporate tax payments paid by the Company; and
- (ix) payments to the TRA parties pursuant to the TRAs.

We have satisfied these needs primarily through our existing cash balances, cash generated by our operations and funds available under our Senior Secured Credit Facility.

## Financing Resources

On December 15, 2016, RMCO and RE/MAX, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of RMCO, entered into a credit agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, and various lenders party thereto (the "Senior Secured Credit Facility"). The Senior Secured Credit Facility provides to RE/MAX, LLC \$235.0 million in term loans and a \$10.0 million revolving facility.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility requires RE/MAX, LLC to repay term loans and reduce revolving commitments with (i) 100.0% of proceeds of any incurrence of additional debt not permitted by the Senior Secured Credit Facility, (ii) 100.0% of proceeds of asset sales and 100.0% of amounts recovered under insurance policies, subject to certain exceptions and a reinvestment right and (iii) 50.0% of excess cash flow at the end of the applicable fiscal year if RE/MAX, LLC's total leverage ratio as defined in the Senior Secured Credit Facility is in excess of 3.25:1.00, with such percentage decreasing as RE/MAX, LLC's leverage ratio decreases.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility is guaranteed by RMCO and RE/MAX of Western Canada (1998), LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of RE/MAX, LLC, and is secured by a lien on substantially all of the assets of RMCO, RE/MAX, LLC and each guarantor.

Borrowings under the term loans and revolving loans accrue interest, at London Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR"), provided that LIBOR shall be no less than 0.75% plus an applicable margin of 2.75%.

The Senior Secured Credit Facility provides for customary restrictions on, among other things, additional indebtedness, liens, dispositions of property, dividends, transactions with affiliates and fundamental changes such as mergers, consolidations and liquidations. With certain exceptions, any default under any of our other agreements evidencing indebtedness in the amount of \$15.0 million or more constitutes an event of default under the Senior Secured Credit Facility.

#### **Table of Contents**

The Senior Secured Credit Facility restricts the aggregate acquisition consideration for permitted acquisitions, in a situation in which RE/MAX, LLC would not be in pro forma compliance with a 3.5:1.0 total leverage ratio (based on how such term is defined therein), to \$100.0 million in any fiscal year. The Senior Secured Credit Facility also provides for incremental facilities, subject to lender participation, as long as the total leverage ratio (calculated as net debt to EBITDA as defined therein) remains below 4.00:1.00.

As of September 30, 2018, RE/MAX, LLC had \$227.6 million of term loans outstanding, net of an unamortized discount and issuance costs, \$0.8 million of long-term financing assumed with the acquisition of booj and no revolving loans outstanding under our Senior Secured Credit Facility. If any loan or other amounts are outstanding under the revolving line of credit, the Senior Secured Credit Facility requires compliance with a leverage ratio and an interest coverage ratio. A commitment fee of 0.5% per annum accrues on the amount of unutilized revolving line of credit.

#### Sources and Uses of Cash

As of September 30, 2018 and December 31, 2017, we had \$51.3 million and \$50.8 million, respectively of cash and cash equivalents, of which approximately \$0.9 million and \$0.8 million were denominated in foreign currencies, respectively.

The following table summarizes our cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,			
	2018	2017	Change	
Cash provided by (used in):				
Operating activities	\$ 57,022	\$ 53,440	\$ 3,582	
Investing activities	(31,204)	(1,781)	(29,423)	
Financing activities	(25,344)	(26,408)	1,064	
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash	(18)	1,076	(1,094)	
Net change in cash and cash equivalents	\$ 456	\$ 26,327	\$ (25,871)	
Operating Activities				

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, cash provided by operating activities increased primarily as a result of:

- · an increase in Adjusted EBITDA of \$4.5 million;
- · a decrease of \$2.2 million in TRA payments in the current year period versus the prior-year period; and
- · timing differences on various operating assets and liabilities.

The increase in cash provided by operating activities was partially offset by the February 2018 net payment of \$2.6 million to satisfy the terms of a litigation settlement in which no comparable transactions occurred in the prior-year period.

### **Investing Activities**

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018, cash used in investing activities increased primarily as a result of the acquisition of booj, investments in training materials and cash used for technology investments.

## Financing Activities

During the nine months ended September 30, 2018 cash used in financing activities decreased primarily due to a decrease in distributions paid to non-controlling unitholders due to tax changes arising from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act enacted in December 2017, offset by an increase in cash paid to Class A common stockholders and non-controlling unitholders due to our Board of Directors declaring a dividend of \$0.20 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A

#### **Table of Contents**

common stock in the first three quarters of 2018 compared to a dividend of \$0.18 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock in the first three quarters of 2017 as well as an increase in cash paid related to financing assumed with the acquisition of booj.

#### **Capital Allocation Priorities**

#### Liquidity

Our objective is to maintain a strong liquidity position. We have existing cash balances, cash flows from operating activities, access to our revolving line of credit and incremental facilities under our Senior Secured Credit Facility available to support the needs of our business.

#### Acquisitions

As part of our growth strategy we may pursue reacquisitions of Independent Regions in the U.S. and Canada as well as additional acquisitions or investments in complementary businesses, services and technologies that would provide access to new markets or customers, or otherwise complement our existing operations. We would fund any such growth with existing cash balances, funds generated from operations and access to our revolving line of credit and incremental facilities under our Senior Secured Credit Facility.

#### Capital Expenditures

The total aggregate amount for purchases of property and equipment and capitalization of developed software and trademark costs was \$5.3 million and \$1.7 million during the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017, respectively. These amounts primarily related to investments in technology and training materials. In order to expand our technological capabilities, we plan to continue to re-invest in our business in order to improve operational efficiencies and enhance the tools and services provided to the franchisees and agents in our network. Total capital expenditures for 2018 are expected to be between \$8.0 million and \$9.0 million as a result of increased investments in technology. See Financial and Operational Highlights above for additional information.

#### Dividends

Our Board of Directors declared and paid quarterly cash dividends of \$0.20 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock during the first three quarters of 2018, as disclosed in Note 5, Earnings Per Share and Dividends. On October 31, 2018, our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of \$0.20 per share on all outstanding shares of Class A common stock, which is payable on November 28, 2018 to stockholders of record at the close of business on November 14, 2018. The declaration of additional future dividends, and, if declared, the amount of any such future dividend, will be subject to our actual future earnings and capital requirements and will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors; however, we currently intend to continue to pay a cash dividend on shares of Class A common stock on a quarterly basis.

Distributions and Other Payments to Non-controlling Unitholders by RMCO

Distributions to Non-Controlling Unitholders Pursuant to the New RMCO, LLC Agreement

As authorized by the New RMCO, LLC Agreement, RMCO makes cash distributions to its unitholders, RE/MAX Holdings and RIHI, also referred to as its members. In accordance with the New RMCO, LLC Agreement,

distributions are required to be made by RMCO to its members on a pro-rata basis in accordance with each members' ownership percentage in RMCO. These distributions have historically been either in the form of payments to cover its members' estimated tax liabilities, dividend payments, or payments to ensure pro-rata distributions have occurred.

Throughout the year until completion of its tax returns with respect to such year, RMCO may pay required or pro-rata true-up distributions to its members, if cash is available for such purposes, with respect to actual taxable income for the year. See Note 4, Non-controlling Interest for further details on distributions made by RMCO.

#### **Table of Contents**

Payments Pursuant to the Tax Receivable Agreements

As of September 30, 2018, the Company reflected a total liability of \$48.2 million under the terms of its TRAs. The liability pursuant to the TRAs will increase in the future upon future exchanges by RIHI of RMCO common units, with the increase representing 85% of the estimated future tax benefits, if any, resulting from such exchanges. We receive funding from RMCO in order to fund the payment of amounts due under the TRAs.

The actual payments, and associated tax benefits, will vary depending upon a number of factors, including the timing of exchanges by RIHI, the price of our Class A common stock at the time of such exchanges, the amount and timing of the taxable income we generate in the future and the tax rate then applicable.

Distributions and other payments pursuant to the New RMCO, LLC Agreement and TRAs in the nine months ended September 30, 2018 and 2017 were comprised of the following (in thousands):

	Nine Months Ended September 30,	
	2018	2017
Distributions and other payments pursuant to the New RMCO, LLC Agreement:		
Required distributions for taxes and pro rata distributions as a result of distributions to		
RE/MAX Holdings in order to satisfy its estimated tax liabilities	\$ 3,723	\$ 7,430
Dividend distributions	7,536	6,783
Total distributions to RIHI	11,259	14,213
Payments pursuant to the TRAs	5,047	7,296
Total distributions to RIHI and TRA payments	\$ 16,306	\$ 21,509
Commitments and Contingencies		

Except for the outstanding lease guarantees acquired in connection with the dispositions of our previously owned brokerages as disclosed in Note 14, Commitments and Contingencies our management does not believe there are any other matters involving us that could result, individually or in the aggregate, in a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

#### Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have no material off balance sheet arrangements as of September 30, 2018.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Our Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates disclosed in "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Judgments and Estimates" in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K for which there were no material changes, included:

- · Goodwill
- · Franchise Agreements and Other Intangible Assets
- · Purchase Accounting for Acquisitions
- · Contingent Consideration
- · Income Tax Accounting
- · Deferred Tax Assets and TRA Liability
- · General Litigation Matters

**New Accounting Pronouncements** 

New Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires lessees to recognize the assets and liabilities that arise from all leases on the consolidated balance sheets. ASU 2016-02 is required to be adopted by us on January 1, 2019. We plan to elect the transition method per ASU 2018-11 and apply the new lease standard at adoption and recognize a cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption and will not retrospectively recast prior periods presented. We have several building leases and other smaller leases for which we are still assessing the application of this standard. We have not yet determined the exact effect of the standard on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures but we expect a material increase in both "Total assets" and "Total liabilities" on the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets upon implementation primarily related to building leases.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks

We have operations both within the U.S. and globally and we are exposed to market risks in the ordinary course of our business. These risks primarily include interest rate, foreign exchange and inflation risks, as well as risks relating to changes in the general economic conditions in the countries where we conduct business. To reduce certain of these risks, we monitor the financial condition of our large franchisees. In addition, our investment strategy has been to invest in financial instruments that are highly liquid and mature within three months from the date of purchase. We do not currently use derivative instruments to mitigate the impact of our market risk exposures nor do we use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.

#### Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk in connection with borrowings under our Senior Secured Credit Facility which bear interest at variable rates. At September 30, 2018, \$230.3 million in term loans were outstanding under our Senior Secured Credit Facility. As of September 30, 2018, the undrawn borrowing availability under the revolving line of credit under our Senior Secured Credit Facility was \$10.0 million. We currently do not engage in any interest rate hedging activity, but given our variable rate borrowings, we monitor interest rates and if appropriate, may engage in hedging activity prospectively. The interest rate on our Senior Secured Credit Facility entered into in December 2016 is currently based on LIBOR, subject to a floor of 0.75%, plus an applicable margin of 2.75%. As of September 30, 2018, the interest rate was 4.99%. If LIBOR rises, then each hypothetical 0.25% increase would result in additional annual interest expense of \$0.6 million.

#### Currency Risk

We have a network of global franchisees in over 100 countries and territories. Fluctuations in exchange rates of the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies can result, and have resulted, in fluctuations in (a) revenue and operating income due to a portion of our revenue being denominated in foreign currencies and (b) foreign exchange transaction gains and losses due primarily to cash and accounts receivable balances denominated in foreign currencies, with the Canadian dollar representing the most significant exposure. We currently do not engage in any foreign exchange hedging activity of our revenues but may do so in the future; however, we actively convert cash balances into U.S. dollars to mitigate currency risk on cash positions. During the three and nine months ended September 30, 2018, a hypothetical 5% strengthening/weakening in the value of the U.S. dollar compared to the Canadian dollar would have resulted in a decrease/increase to operating income of approximately \$0.3 million and \$0.8 million, respectively.

#### **Table of Contents**

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, under the supervision and with the participation of our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer, evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on that evaluation, our Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer have concluded that as of September 30, 2018 our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective due to a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting described below.

Material Weakness in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the Company's annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.

As discussed in the Company's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, management has determined that the Company did not have an effective risk assessment process to identify and assess the financial reporting risks related to benefits provided by principal stockholders. As a consequence, the Company did not have effective controls and training of personnel over the identification and communication of related party transactions to financial reporting personnel, management and the Board, as appropriate, to identify and evaluate recognition, measurement and disclosure of such transactions. These control deficiencies resulted in misstatements in the consolidated financial statements that were corrected in current and prior periods as discussed in the Company's 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. These control deficiencies create a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement to the consolidated financial statements would not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, and, therefore, management concluded that the control deficiencies represent a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting and our internal control over financial reporting was not effective as of September 30, 2018.

Notwithstanding the material weakness, management believes the condensed consolidated financial statements included in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q present fairly, in all material respects, the Company's financial condition, results of operations and cash flows at and for the periods presented in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

#### Remediation Plans

To remediate the material weakness in internal control over financial reporting, we have made several changes, including the following:

- adopted additional policies and procedures for reviewing and approving transactions involving our senior management and controlling stockholder;
- · strengthened our process for ensuring the Company has a complete and accurate accounting of all related party transactions involving principal stockholders;
- · provided additional training to all officers and Directors related to reporting and review of certain transactions; and
- · adopted enhanced procedures for the review by our Chief Compliance Officer and Board of Directors of related party transactions.

#### **Table of Contents**

These changes have been implemented throughout the Company. However, the material weakness will not be considered fully remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing, that these controls are operating effectively. We expect the remediation will be completed in 2018, but there can be no assurance that we will meet this goal and we may also conclude that additional measures are required to remediate the material weakness which may necessitate additional implementation and evaluation time.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Except as related to the material weakness and remedial measures described above, there have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during our third quarter ended September 30, 2018 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

#### **Table of Contents**

#### PART II. - OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

From time to time we are involved in litigation, claims and other proceedings relating to the conduct of our business. Litigation and other disputes are inherently unpredictable and subject to substantial uncertainties and unfavorable resolutions could occur. We do not believe we have any currently pending litigation of which the outcome will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operations; however, litigation and other claims and regulatory proceedings against us could result in unexpected expenses and liability and could also materially adversely affect our operations and our reputation.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

For a discussion of our potential risks and uncertainties, please see "Risk Factors" in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the risk factor below updates the risk factors described in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K. Except as discussed below, there have been no material changes in our risk factors as disclosed in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RIHI has substantial influence over us including over decisions that require the approval of stockholders, and its interest in our business may conflict with yours.

RIHI is controlled by David Liniger, our current Chairman and Co-Founder, and Gail Liniger, our Vice Chair and Co-Founder, respectively, and holds approximately 42% of the combined voting power of our capital stock through its ownership of 100% of our outstanding Class B common stock. Therefore RIHI has the ability to significantly influence all matters submitted to a vote of our stockholders.

In addition, RIHI's entire economic interest in us is in the form of its direct interest in RMCO through the ownership of RMCO common units, the payments it may receive from us under its tax receivable agreement and the proceeds it may receive upon any redemption of its RMCO common units, including issuance of shares of our Class A common stock upon any such redemption and any subsequent sale of such Class A common stock. As a result, RIHI's interests may conflict with the interests of our Class A common stockholders. For example, RIHI may have a different tax position from us which could influence its decisions regarding certain transactions, especially in light of the existence of the tax receivable agreements that we entered into in connection with our IPO, including whether and when we should terminate the tax receivable agreements and accelerate our obligations thereunder. In addition, RIHI could have an interest in the structuring of future transactions to take into consideration its tax or other considerations, even in situations where no similar considerations are relevant to us.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

None.

Item 5. Other Information	
None.	
Item 6. Exhibits	
48	

## Table of Contents

Exhibit No.	Exhibit Description	Form	File Number	Date of First Filing	Exhibit Number	Filed Herewith
3.1	Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation	10-Q	001-36101	11/14/2013	3.1	
3.2	Bylaws of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.	8-K	001-36101	2/22/2018	3.1	
4.1	Form of RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.'s Class A common stock certificate.	S-1	333-190699	9/27/2013	4.1	
31.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.					X
31.2	Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.					X
32.1	Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002					X
101.INS	XBRL Instance Document					X
101.SCH	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document					X
101.CAL	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document					X
101.DEF	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document					X
101.LAB	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document					X
101.PRE	XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document					X

## **Table of Contents**

### **SIGNATURES**

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

## RE/MAX Holdings, Inc.

(Registrant)

Date: November 2, 2018 By: /s/ Adam M. Contos

Adam M. Contos

Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

Date: November 2, 2018 By: /s/ Karri R. Callahan

Karri R. Callahan

Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: November 2, 2018 By: /s/ Brett A. Ritchie

Brett A. Ritchie

**Chief Accounting Officer** 

(Principal Accounting Officer)